

Technical Report GL-94-12 April 1994

US Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station



# **Super-Heavy Aircraft Study**

by Walter R. Barker, Carlos R. Gonzalez





Approved For Public Release; Distribution Is Unlimited



**94 5 24 069** 

ETIC OUS LINE LAND IN L

Prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation

The contents of this report are not to be defined for advertising, publication, or promotional purposes. Citation of trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of such commercial products.

Technical Report GL-94-12 April 1994

# **Super-Heavy Aircraft Study**

by Waiter R. Barker, Carlos R. Gonzalez U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Waterways Experiment Station 3909 Halls Ferry Road Vicksburg, MS 39180-6199

Accesio	n For		
NTIS	CRA&I	<b>A</b>	
DTIC			1
Unanno			
Justific	ation	••••••••••••••••	
By Distribu A		y Codes	
Dist	Avail Spi	and / or ecial	
A-1			

### Final report

Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited

Prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Aviation Administration Washington, DC 20591



#### Waterways Experiment Station Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Barker, Walter R.

Super-heavy aircraft study / by Walter R. Barker, Carlos R. Gonzalez ; prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation. Federal Aviation Administration.

71 p. : ill. ; 28 cm. — (Technical report ; GL-94-12)

Includes bibliographical references.

1. Pavements, Flexible — Live loads. 2. Pavements — Performance — Computer programs. 3. Runways (Aeronautics) — Design and construction. 4. Elastic analysis (Engineering) I. Gonzalez, Carlos R. II. United States. Federal Aviation Administration. III. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. IV. Title. V. Series: Technical report (U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station); GL-94-12.TA7 W34 no.GL-94-12

#### PREFACE

The study reported herein was sponsored by Headquarters, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (HQUSACE), U.S. Air Force, U.S. Army, and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) under the effort "Design for Heavy-Weight Aircraft." The Technical Monitors were Mr. Paige Johnson, HQUSACE, Mr. John Rice, FAA, and Mr. Jim Greene, U.S. Air Force.

The study was conducted at the U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES) from May 1991 through March 1992 by the Pavement System Division (PSD) of the Geotechnical Laboratory (GL). This report was written by Dr. Walter R. Barker and Mr. Carlos R. Gonzales, PSD, under the supervision of Dr. G. M. Hammitt II, Chief, PSD; and Mr. Jim Hall, Chief, System Analysis Branch. Mr. Richard Ahlvin, a WES consultant, assisted in the collection and analysis of data. The work was performed under the general supervision of Dr. William F. Marcuson III, Director, GL.

Dr. Robert W. Whalin was the Director of WES. COL Bruce K. Howard, EN, was the Commander during the preparation of this report.

### CONTENTS

	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
<b>GENERAL</b>	1
BACKGROUND	1
PAVEMENT PERFORMANCE DATA	3
GENERAL	3
	•
DATA ANALYSIS	7
GENERAL	7 7
COMPUTER PROGRAMS	7
ACNLEA Program	8
LAYERED ELASTIC AIRCRAFT CLASSIFICATION NUMBER	9
MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION	10
RESPONSE PARAMETERS	11 12
MULTILAYER ANALYSIS	13
Equivalent Single-Wheel Load Criteria	13
Strain Criteria	15
SINGLE-LAYER ANALYSIS	23
COMPARISON OF DESIGN PROCEDURES	25
BASIS OF DESIGN COMPARISONS	25
DETERMINATION OF REQUIRED THICKNESS FOR THE ELASTIC LAYER	25
PROCEDURE	25
EFFECTS OF TIRE SPACING	28
DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	33
DISCUSSION	33
CONCLUSIONS	33
RECOMMENDATIONS	35
REFERENCES	36
APPENDIX A: USER'S MANUAL FOR THE ACNLEA COMPUTER PROGRAM	A1

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure <u>No.</u>		<u>Page</u>
1	Cumulative distribution of coverages to failure in the test	5
2	Cumulative distribution of subgrade CBR values in the test data base	5
3	Cumulative distribution of total pavement thicknesses in the test data base	6
4	Comparison of data from the WESWL computer program	9
5	Test section parameters for a multilayer system	11

## LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figure <u>No.</u>		Page
6	Attenuation of pavement response parameters with distance from point of loading	12
7	Plot for the a-factor analysis for an 8-radii cutoff	14
8	distance	-
9	distance	14
10	deflection	16 16
11	Plot for the α-curve criteria based on maximum horizontal strain	10
12	Plot for the α-curve criteria based on maximum shear strain	17
13	Plot for the $\alpha$ -curve criteria based on octahedral strain	18
14	Performance criteria for multilayer system based on vertical deflection	18
15	Performance criteria for multilayer system based on	
16	vertical strain	20
17	horizontal strain	20
18	shear strain	21
10	octahedral strain	21
19 20	Comparison between multiwheel and single-wheel test data Comparison between vertical strain criteria from previous studies and the vertical strain criteria developed in this study	22 23
21	Performance criteria for single-layer system based on maximum shear strain	23
22	Standard pavement sections	26
23	Determination of required thicknesses for the elastic layer design procedure	26
24	Required thickness versus subgrade CBR for a 43.5-kip	
25	single wheel	27 27
26	Required thickness versus subgrade CBR for a heavy	_
27	B-747 gear	29
	heavy gear	29
28	Effect of tire spacing (twin gear, 3 CBR subgrade)	30
29 30	Effect of tire spacing (twin-tandem, 3 CBR subgrade)	30 31
31	Maximum shear strain criteria plotted in an arithmetic scale .	34
A1	Main menu for the ACNLEA computer programs	34 A5
A1 A2	Input screen for the ACNIN computer program	A5
A3	Search grid for a twin-tandem gear	A7
A4	Input screen for the gear tire coordinates	A8
A5	ACNHS input screen	A9

V

## LIST OF FIGURES (Concluded)

Figure		<u>Page</u>
<b>A6</b>	Relationship between load and pavement response parameter	
	in an elastic system	A10
▲7	Screen for the rigid boundary layer depth	A13
A8	Extension of the search grid for the example problems	A16
<b>A</b> 9	Example screen displaying a list of available load data files	A17
A10	Partial view of the ACN results for the example problem 1	A18
A11	Available print options for the ACNHS computer program	A18
A12	Printout containing the results of the example problem 1	A20
A13	ACNHS input for example problem 2	A23
A14	Partial view of the results obtained for example problem 2	A23
A15	Printout containing the results of the example problem 2	A24

## LIST OF TABLES

Table

•

No.		<u>Page</u>
1	Available Test Section Data Used	4
2	Results of the Analysis Performed on the Test Section Data	19

.

.

SION FACTORS
NOIS
CONVERSION
NETRIC CO

.

ic Measures	To Find Symbol	و ا ا		11		333 {{{	ı		1	1		÷	Fabrahult <sup>1</sup> Namenan	- 18 – 092 99	
rersions to Metri	Multiply by		53:	133	AREA		MASS (weight)	<b>1</b> 22	AOLUME	8.0 2.1 8.1 0.26	* <sup>2</sup>	TEMPERATURE (auact)	19	94 94 94	
Approximate Conversions to Metric Measures	When You Know	•			1	and a second sec	-1		I		Cablic menun Cablic metur		Celsius		
	Symbol		11	e . 3		<b>ት</b> ግን ታ		•3-		1'	<b>```</b>		<b>.</b>		
				**							<b> </b> •			<b>8 8</b>	<sup>1</sup> w3
								NANCÉLIN HILD ALLE DE L	HANNA I HAN L	INSTATUSE OF TRAVELED AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AN		en nernern	INUINNE	KINDONGHIN	
•  l.		• lı.	ll.		r lui					, 1 , 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1,	l. I. I. I. I. IIIIIIIII	2             	, ) , ) , ) , ) , ) , )	ן היוינייין מחמשמשמע	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
' <b>!</b> ']'		• l.ı.	<b>l</b> .	: [ [ ]   7   7	a Lili	ניינ ווווווווו	<b>*</b> 	• <b>1</b> • <b>1</b> • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		- 3 6 5		₩₩₩₩₩ }'  '  '     3	, ] . ] , ] , , <b>]</b> . ] , <b>]</b> ,	•• 	,
c Nessures	Te Find Symbol	l.ı.	<b>.</b> .		I	וייןיייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	2 		<b></b>				, <b>1</b> .   , 1,		ra ant more de- eight ind Mea-
versions to Netric Neasures					I				3WATIGA					, 1 , 1 , 1	her exact convertions and more tle- bl. 286, Units of Weight: ind Mea-
Approximate Conversions to Metric Measures	To Find						ti neuros MASS (maipt)			2	35	at 0.10 coloc metari m <sup>2</sup> .		Celsius "C	• 1 in. = 2.54 (exectly). For other exact conversions and more de- talled tables, see NBC Misc. Publ. 286, Units of Weight: ind Mea- sures, Price \$2.25, SD Catalog No. C13.10:286.

vii

#### INTRODUCTION

#### GENERAL

Airport congestion at major hub airports is dictating a need for larger and heavier aircraft to carry more passengers such that the demand for air travel can be met without an increase in aircraft movements. Already under development are commercial aircraft having gross weights in excess of one million pounds. For such an aircraft to be a commercially viable option, the aircraft must be suitable to operate from most of the major civil airports. There would also be considerable impact on military airfields in that many military operations require the use of civil aircraft. In the design of the landing gear for the new aircraft, it has become apparent that by the current flexible pavement procedure for computing the effect of aircraft on pavement performance, the new heavy aircraft will be more damaging than is permitted by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) guidelines. The aircraft designers suspect the method for computing the equivalent single-wheel load (ESWL) is flawed when it is applied to the new type of aircraft gear.

#### BACKGROUND

The flexible pavement design procedure used by the FAA, the Army Corps of Engineers, and the Air Force employs the California Bearing Ratio (CBR), aircraft loading, tire contact area, and traffic volume as design parameters. The development of the classic CBR equation is presented by Turnbull and Ahlvin<sup>1</sup>, Ahlvin<sup>2</sup>, and Ahlvin<sup>3</sup>. The CBR equation was originally developed for single-wheel gears and for a traffic level of 5,000 coverages.

To accommodate multiwheel aircraft in the design of flexible pavements, a methodology for computing an ESWL was introduced into the CBR equation.<sup>2</sup> Ideally, the ESWL should be the loading on a single-wheel load which will be equivalent in performance (i.e., passes to failure) to the multiwheel gear. In practice, the ESWL is defined as a load on a single tire having the same contact area as a tire in the multiwheel gear, which will provide the same deflection at a specified point in the pavement system as the multiwheel load. The deflection on which the ESWL is based is the maximum deflection as computed by the Boussinessq single-layer half-space theory at a specified depth under the multiwheel gear. This results in the ESWL for a given aircraft being a function of the depth for which the ESWL is to be computed.

In the early studies, several parameters were considered for determining the ESWL. The principal two were the shear stress and vertical deflection. From the data available at the time, the deflection-based ESWL appeared to provide the best design parameter for use in the CBR equation. It was realized during the development of the deflection-based ESWL that if aircraft were developed having widely spaced multiwheel gears, the deflection-based ESWL for that gear would probably under predict passes to failure (personal communication with Mr. R. G. Ahlvin). In the 1960's and 1970's, prototype testing of multiwheel gear verified that the ESWL based on deflection under predicted the number of passes to failure. To compensate for the over prediction of the ESWL, a thickness adjustment factor for multiwheel aircraft and traffic volume was introduced<sup>4,5</sup>. The thickness adjustment factors ( $\alpha$ -factors) were a function of number of tires and level of traffic in terms of coverages.

In 1990, Mr. O. W. Preston from McDonnell-Douglas Aircraft Corporation, motivated by a long-held suspicion that the deflection is a poor parameter for the prediction of pavement performance, undertook a study to evaluate the test data from the multiwheel load tests conducted at the U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station (WES). As a result of the study, Mr. Preston developed a design procedure based on the horizontal shear strain<sup>6</sup>. In this procedure, referred to in this report as the Preston's slope method, the horizontal shear strain is computed from the slope of the vertical deflection basin for a plane at the top of the subgrade using the Boussinessq deflection factors. The thickness of pavement above this "plane" is determined from criteria developed from the test section data. Mr. Preston found that the use of this methodology for pavement design eliminated the requirement for thickness reduction factors and resulted in reduced design thicknesses for multiwheel aircraft.

As a direct result of Mr. Preston's study and in anticipation of the operation of new heavy multiwheel aircraft, the U.S. Air Force, the FAA, and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers engaged the WES to undertake a study to evaluate the available test data in light of Mr. Preston's study and newer analytical methods for computing pavement response parameters.

#### PAVEMENT PERFORMANCE DATA

#### GENERAL

To investigate the correlation between the proposed design parameters and pavement performance, available test section data were revisited and reanalyzed using a layered elastic methodology. Most data were obtained from accelerated traffic test sections and consisted of pavement thicknesses, subgrade strengths, gear configurations, gear loads, and coverages to failure.

#### AVAILABLE TEST SECTION DATA

The data gathered for this investigation are summarized in Table 1. The data in this table present the readily available performance data for flexible airfield pavements. These data have been generated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers over the past 50 years in work that has been sponsored by the Army, Air Force, and FAA. This table presents the 37 test points considered for analysis along with their respective references from which they were obtained. Of these data, one test was a nonfailure, and four tests were borderline failures. In the table, traffic is described by the gear type, tire spacing, gear load, tire contact area, and coverages to failure. The total pavement thickness above the subgrade, subgrade CBR, and failure condition describe the pavement structure.

In compiling the data, Corps of Engineers' reports were searched for test data and all data found was screened for inclusion in the data base. The screening was based on adequacy of structure data and description of pavement performance. For the most part, nonfailures were not included in the data. Data point number 36 in Table 1 was an exception because this data point was from the test section for development of criteria for the C-5 aircraft and was particularly applicable to this study. After screening, the remaining data consisted of a variety of pavements with a range of traffic levels to failure, aircraft loading, subgrade strengths, and thicknesses. Figures 1, 2, and 3 give the cumulative distribution of the test section data for coverages to failure, subgrade CBR values, and total pavement thicknesses, respectively. Figure 1 shows that the maximum traffic to failure was approximately 7,000 coverages and the minimum traffic to failure was 6 coverages. The median level of traffic to failure was approximately 300 coverages. Subgrade CBR values range from as low as 3.7 to as high as 35, with a median CBR value of 7. Total pavement thicknesses range from 5 to 49 inches, with a median thickness of 16 inches. The applied loading to these pavements also consisted of a range of load magnitudes and number of tires per gear which were representative of contemporary aircraft. Single-wheel gears, twin gears, twintandem gears, and delta-twin-tandem gears varying from 15 kips to 360 kips per gear were available.

The range of the test data is important when considering the extent to which the data are extrapolated. For example, in computing the aircraft classification numbers (ACN) for ultralow subgrade strengths, 10,000 coverages and a 3 CBR are used for computing the ACN. The ACN for this ultralow strength subgrade for some aircraft already in existence is in excess of 100, . Tabla 1 Available Test Section Data Used

					Personal Thick-	Amplet	3	-					
-	Geer Type	Tire Specing Bri		Area (and in.)	and the	1 MONUMERE Bind	Thickness (in)	Tridinees Enj		Concreges to Failure	Fellure		Han Falue
	Sindle Wheel	VN	800	1.501	0.65	7.0	021	981	40	150			
	Single Wheel	NIA	00	1,501	44.0	7.0	15.0	22.0	0.0	1.700			
	Single Wheel	NIA	00	1,501	0.81	0.0	9.9	0.0	16.0	2			
	Single Wheel	N/N	8	1,801	20.5	6.5	14.0	0.0	18.0	8			
	Single Wheel	M/A	8	1,801	23.5	6.5	14.5	2.5	15.5	8			
	Single Wheel	M/A	8	1.801	0.04	7.0	14.0	9	17.6	1.500	•		
	Single Wheel	N/A	8	1.801	0.84	6.0	14.6	29.0	0.8	1.300	•		
_	Single Wheel	N/A	2	992	10.0	9	4.0	5.0	9	3,760	•		
	Single Wheel	NIA	2	202	10.0	0.	4	0.8	0.0	3.760	•		
_	Single Wheel	MA	8	205	15.0	3.0	9	9	3.7	•			
_	Single Wheel	M/A	8	205	24.0	3.0	0.0	15.0		8	•		
	Sindle Wheel	MA	8	285	15.0	3.0	0.0	9.0	3.7	8	•		
_	ž	MA	8	200	12.0	1.5		8	14.0	210			
	Single Wheel	N/N	8	3	12.0	1.5	8.9		92	178	•		
_	Single Wheat	N/N	8	180	12.0	1.6		4	0	203			
	Sindle Wheel	MA	2	-	5.0	5.0	0.0	0,0	9	\$			
	Tuin	37	2	200	10.0	3.0	7.0	0.0	27.0	1,500	•		
	Twin	37	R	50	10.0	3.0	02	00	35.0	2,000		•	
	Twin	37.6	õ	266	10.0	3.0	7.0	00	35.0	328	•		
-	Twin	8.00	ĕ	292	15.0	0.	9	0.0	24.0	2,000		•	
	Twin	*	3	280	25.0	0,L	12.0	12.0	14.0	7,189		•	
	Twin Tendem	· 44 # 58	20	282	0.65	<b>3</b> .0	3	24.0	4	ŧ	•		
	Twin Tendem	<b>1</b> = <b>2</b>	200	200	41.0	3.0	9.9	32.0	4.0	22	•		
	Twin Tandam	31.5×00	8	280	14.0	3.0	5.5	0.0	20.0	2,000	•		
_	Twin Tendem	31.5×00	8	273	14.0	9.0	5.6	0,0	18.0	610	•		
_	Twin Tandem	21.5 × 80	99	273	20.0	9.0	17.0	0.0	27.0	2,000		•	
_	Twin Tandem	21.5 × 50	120	180	16.0	1.5	14.5	0.0	15.0	1,500	•		
-	Twin Tandem	31,5×59	8	8	16.0	1.5	14.5	0.0	6.0	2	•		
_	Twin Tendem	21.5 × 59	2	8	16.0	9.1	14.5	0.0	12.0	910	•		
	Twin Tendem	44 × 50	¥	2	24.0	9.0	6.0	15.0	5.0	ŝ	•		
	Twin Tendem	44×58	8	267	33.0	3.0	0.0	24.0	9.9	3,660	•		
-	Twin Tendem	44 × 50	240	267	0.64	0.1	0.0	24.0		8	•		
-	C-5A 12 Tiree	(34-53-34)-48x85x220	8	205	15.0	3.0	0.0	0.8	2.7	•	•		
	C-5A 12 Tires	(34-53-34)-48x85x220	200	285	24.0	3.0	0.0	15.0	4	2	•		
	C-5A 12 Tires	(34-53-34)-48x65x220	8	205	33.0	3.0	6.0	24.0		1,500	•		
	C-5A 12 Tiree	(34-53-34)-48x85x220	380	205	41.0	3.0	0.0	32.0	4.0	3,850			•
	C-5A 12 Tires	(34-53-34)-48×65×220		205	24.0	3.0	0.0	15.0	5.0	190			

4

.

<sup>1</sup> Reference numbers refer to numbers listed in the Reference Section.



Figure 1. Cumulative distribution of coverages to failure in the test data base



Figure 2. Cumulative distribution of subgrade CBR values in the test data base

5



Figure 3. Cumulative distribution of total pavement thicknesses in the test data base

indicating the thicknesses required would be in excess of 65 inches. This indicates that even in computing ACN, the data are being extrapolated far beyond the bounds of the available data. In actual pavement design, the data are being extrapolated to an even greater extent. For instance, considering that the FAA design procedure provides for 25,000 annual departures, and that some major airports are considering designs for a 40-year pavement life, a design traffic in the order of 1,000,000 total departures would have to be expected. It is essential that the methodology used to extrapolate the data has a sound theoretical basis and that the data are used as a means of verification of the methodology.

#### DATA ANALYSIS

#### GENERAL

The initial attempt at the reanalysis of the test data was to modify the current methodology to reduce the effect on the computed ESWL of widely spaced tires of an aircraft gear. This approach assumed that the Boussinessq theory would compute more deflection at greater distances from the tire than would exist in an actual pavement. This has in fact been long recognized and different correction procedures have been implemented. In the earlier studies at WES, a 20-radii cutoff procedure had been applied. In his analysis, Mr. Preston<sup>6</sup> uniquely applied a 25-radii cutoff. The current computer program used for computing the ESWL factor does not apply any cutoff distance for the computing deflection. The result is that all tires regardless of spacing will have a contribution to the ESWL factor. It was also extremely desirable to maintain the ESWL concept and retain the basic ESWL/thickness/CBR relationship of the current design procedure in the analysis methodology. The modification should involve only the method in which the ESWL is determined. An obvious modification would be to use different radii cutoff for computing a deflection-based ESWL. The other obvious choice would be to use a different response parameter as the basis for the ESWL. In computing the esponse parameters, a Boussinessq model or an elastic multilayered model could have been chosen.

After conducting the study for the initial approach, the benefit of maintaining the basic ESWL/thickness/CBR relationship was questioned. A second approach was developed in which the response parameters of the test sections were related directly with the performance of the test sections. To compute the response parameters, both the Boussinessq model and the elastic layered model were available. The response parameters were determined at the top of the subgrade. In addition to deflection the response parameters considered were the vertical strain, horizontal shear strain, maximum shear strain, and the octahedral shear strain. The irony of using shear strain as a pavement response parameter is that this was one of the parameters originally suggested for computing the ESWL. At that time it was felt that ESWL's based on shear strain would not be conservative. Another factor that may have been a consideration in selecting the deflection over shear strain was that the deflections due to multiwheel loading could be determined more readily by means of tables and charts.

#### **COMPUTER PROGRAMS**

#### WESWL Program

For years WES has been utilizing a computer program developed by General Dynamics Corporation for computing the ESWL curves for aircraft. The computer program uses the Boussinessq model for an elastic half-space for computing deflection factors at the top of the subgrade from which the ESWL is computed. In 1991, WES developed a new ESWL program specifically for the microcomputer. This program, WESWL<sup>7</sup>, is similar to the earlier program but utilizes different integration and search routines. For this study, the WESWL program was modified such that different radii cutoff for computing the deflection could be considered. In the use of a radii cutoff, the deflection at the designated cutoff distance (from the center of the load) is computed. All deflections computed for distances less than the designated cutoff distance are adjusted by the equation:

$$D = d - (\mathbf{x}_1 / \mathbf{x}_c) d_c \cdot$$

where

- D = the adjusted deflection at distance x1 used to compute the total deflection for a multiwheel gear
- d the deflection computed by Boussinessq theory at a distance xl
  from the center of the loaded area
- $x_1$  = the distance for the search point to the center of the loaded area
- x<sub>c</sub> = the cut off distance which is equal the radius of the tire times the cutoff radii
- d<sub>c</sub> = the deflection computed by Boussinessq theory at the cutoff
   distance from the center of the loaded area

If the distance from the search point to the center of the tire is greater than the cutoff distance, the deflection was assumed to be zero. Thus, a tire at a distance greater than the cutoff distance would not have any contribution to the ESWL.

Figure 4 provides a comparison of data obtained by running the WESWL program for different radii cutoff distances. Figure 4 also shows data obtained from Preston's analysis in which the ESWL was determined using the slope method. The data clearly show that for cutoff distances less than 20 radii, the ratio of the ESWL at a given depth to the single-wheel load is very sensitive to the cutoff distances. For distances greater than 20 radii, there are little differences in the ESWL ratio.

#### ACNLEA Program

In the course of the project, the computer program "ACNLEA" was developed. This code uses a layered elastic model for computing the pavement response to load. The layered elastic analytical model chosen to be incorporated into the ACNLEA computer program was the JULEA computer code. The JULEA code was written for a single-load analysis by Dr. Jacob Uzan (personal correspondence) and was modified at WES for multiload analysis. The JULEA code has been used in the development of the elastic layered design procedures and in the evaluation of pavements using elastic layered theory. The JULEA computer program allows the calculation of the design parameters in a system of elastic layers at any depth and at any point on a horizontal plane. A search grid was added to the ACNLEA basic computer code to calculate values of the selected parameters at locations defined by a grid and to sort the data to obtain the maximum values. By the use of superposition, the computer program permits the modeling of any gear configuration. The ACNLEA program has the capability of



Figure 4. Comparison of data from the WESWL computer program

analyzing both single-layer and multilayer systems. The single-layer and multilayer capabilities allowed the analysis of the test sections both as a single-layered system and as a multilayered system. The program automatically assigns material properties depending on which system is chosen to represent the pavement structure.

In addition to the analysis of the test section data, the program has the capabilities of analysis of pavements considering different performance criteria, analysis of equivalent single-wheel loads for different aircraft, and the computation of strain-based ACN values for an aircraft. A description and a user guide for ACNLEA is provided in Appendix A. The computer program and pavement performance criteria built into it have not been approved for use.

#### LAYERED ELASTIC AIRCRAFT CLASSIFICATION NUMBER

The ACNLEA computer program contains performance criteria for pavement design based on subgrade strain. The criteria imply that all loads producing the same subgrade strain magnitude will be equivalent in terms of pavement performance. If this is true, then aircraft can be rated on the basis of a

standard wheel that will produce the same subgrade strain magnitude (i.e., an equivalent standard wheel in terms of performance). In the ACNLEA computer program the loading of a standard wheel is computed which will produce the same strain as the strain produced by the aircraft loading. This standard wheel load represents the equivalent standard wheel load for that aircraft. For a given aircraft, the equivalent standard wheel load will be a function of the pavement thickness, the layer properties (modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio), and the aircraft loading. The computer program generates standard pavement sections which would eliminate the layer properties from the list of independent parameters. With the standard sections the difference caused by different subgrade strengths would be minor and most likely could be disregarded. The ACN value of an aircraft could then be presented as a function of aircraft loading and thickness of the standard pavement. For computation of the pavement classification number (PCN) for an existing pavement, a method would have to be developed for converting actual pavement sections to the standard pavement sections. This could be accomplished by using a design procedure similar to the present method for determining the PCN.

#### MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

The layered elastic analysis requires the characterization of pavement structures by two elastic constants: modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio. The basic assumptions when using the elastic model are that (1) the pavement system is a layered continuum, (2) the layers are homogeneous and isotropic, (3) the bottom layer extends to infinity, (4) the interface between layers is either bonded, frictionless, or partially bonded, and (5) the loads are applied as circular areas of pressure.

For the multilayer analysis, the actual thicknesses of the test sections were used to define the layers composing their pavement structure. The modulus of elasticity for the subgrade materials was estimated by the empirical relationship  $E_{subgrade}$  (psi) = 1,500\*CBR. The Poisson's ratio for the subgrade materials was assumed to be 0.4. Modulus values for the granular layers were empirically assigned as described by Barker and Brabston.<sup>8</sup> The procedure is based on relationships developed for resilient modules of unbound granular layers as a function of the layer thickness and type of material. Asphalt surface layers were assumed to have a modulus of elasticity of 250,000 psi and a Poisson's ratio of 0.5. The interface condition between all layers was considered to be fully bonded. Figure 5 illustrates a multilayer system used in the analysis.

For the single-layer analysis, the sum of the test section thicknesses above the subgrade were used as the depth at which the pavement response parameters were computed. The single-layer above the subgrade was assumed to have the same elastic constants as the subgrade material. Subgrade materials with CBR values greater than 20 were considered to have a maximum modulus value of 30,000 psi.

An elastic-layered structure was set up for each test section point and analyzed with the ACNLEA computer program for the applied loading on each test section. The maximum response parameters were then determined for each test section to develop the performance criteria. Single-layer analyses were



Figure 5. Test section parameters for a multilayer system

performed to compare results with the Corps of Engineers procedure and **Preston's slope method<sup>6</sup>** which is based on a single-layer system.

#### **RESPONSE** PARAMETERS

Earlier in this report it was stated that because of the limited ranges of the test data with respect to subgrade strengths, gear loading, and traffic level, extrapolation is required beyond the ranges of the test data and that selection of the parameter(s) for extrapolation must be soundly based. It has been recognized that the primary cause of pavement rutting has been shear deformations. The current CBR design procedure was developed to basically prevent such shear deformations. The logical parameters for consideration are deflection. maximum shear strain, vertical strain, horizontal shear strain, or octahedral shear strain. The deflection is the parameter currently used for computation of the ESWL. Strain parameters are considered in lieu of stress because past analyses indicate that the use of the strain provides a means of indirectly considering subgrade strength. The fact that in these analyses the modulus of elasticity of the subgrade was obtained from the CBR directly connects the strain relationships to the CBR. In considering the problem of multiwheel gear the attenuation of the response parameters with distance must be a consideration. To illustrate this, Figure 6 shows how different response parameters attenuate for a single-wheel loading. The response for multiwheel aircraft is computed by superimposing the response from the individual wheels. The vertical deflection and vertical strain can be superimposed directly, but the other parameters must be obtained by superposition of the strain tensors. The maximum shear strain, the octahedral strain, and the maximum horizontal shear strain are computed maximum strain tensors. The data in Figure 6



SINGLE WHEEL, 50 KIPS, CBR=10, 40 INCHES DEEP

Figure 6. Attenuation of pavement response parameters with distance from point of loading

indicates that the vertical strain, maximum shear strain, and octahedral strain, attenuate essentially at the same rate and at a higher rate than the horizontal shear strain and the deflection.

#### BOUSSINESSQ ANALYSIS

The first approach of this study was to develop a performance criteria based on the ESWL and using deflection computed at the top of the subgrade for determining the ESWL and the classical CBR equation for the relationship between ESWL, subgrade strength, and thickness. This approach is the same as the current design procedure except that different cutoff distances were used to compute the ESWL. The development of the WESWL computer program permitted the calculation of the ESWL for selected cutoff distances. For each data point a thickness reduction factor ( $\alpha$ -factor) was calculated based on the ESWL values from the different cutoff distances and the CBR equation. The  $\alpha$ -factor is computed for each test section by first computing the ESWL using the program WESWL. From the ESWL and the tire contact area, the ESWL contact pressure (p) is determined. Finally, the Corps of Engineers CBR equation is solved for the  $\alpha$ -factor as shown.

$$\alpha = T / \left[ \sqrt{A} * f(CBR/p) \right]$$

where

- $\alpha$  thickness reduction factor ( $\alpha$ -factor)
- T total pavement thickness, inches
- A loaded contact area, square inches
- CBR subgrade CBR
  - p = contact pressure for the equivalent single wheel, psi

$$f(CBR/p) = -0.0481 - 1.1562 \left[ \log \frac{CBR}{p} \right] - 0.6414 \left[ \log \frac{CBR}{p} \right]^2 - 0.4730 \left[ \log \frac{CBR}{p} \right]^3$$

Figures 7 and 8 present the data for the  $\alpha$ -factor analysis with cutoff distances of 8 and 12 radii, respectively. In the figures the  $\alpha$ -factor is presented as a percent of design thickness. Also presented in Figures 7 and 8 are the regression curves for both multiwheel and single-wheel data. It should be noted that for single loading the cutoff distance does not apply since the ESWL is always equal to the single-wheel load. The regression curve for the single-wheel data should agree with the load repetition factors currently being used for single-wheel loading. As can be seen in Figures 7 and 8, the published  $\alpha$ -curve of a single wheel falls directly on top of the single wheel regression line obtained from the analysis. In comparing the regression curves for multiwheel data with the regression curve for the single wheel data, it is seen that by the proper selection of a cutoff distance, a curve can be determined which would be common to both multiwheel and single-wheel gear.

#### MULTILAYER ANALYSIS

#### Equivalent Single-Wheel Load Criteria

As in the Boussinessq analysis, there was a strong desire to develop performance criteria based on the ESWL concept using the classical CBR equation for the relationship between ESWL, subgrade strength, and thickness. Because of the long term use of the CBR equation in airport pavement design, there still existed a sense of loyalty to the relationship between CBR, load, and thickness. The approach for multilayered analysis was the same as was used for Boussinessq analysis except that in addition to deflection, strain parameters are used to compute the ESWL. The availability of the ACNLEA computer program permitted the calculation of the ESWL for multilayer pavement systems. For each data point, an a factor was calculated based on the ESWL values from the different strain values computed at the top of the subgrade and the CBR equation. The steps required to calculate the  $\alpha$ -factors are

(1) For each test point the pavement structure is established by modeling each layer with the elastic layer constants (modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio).

(2) Using the elastic layer computer program, the response of a single-wheel from the gear is computed and expressed in terms of the selected response parameter,  $SW_{response}$ .



Figure 7. Plot for the  $\alpha$ -factor analysis for an 8-radii cutoff distance



Figure 8. Plot for the  $\alpha$ -factor analysis for a 12 radii cutoff distance

14

(3) The response of the gear (multiwheel) is calculated and expressed in terms of the selected response parameter, MW<sub>response</sub>.

(4) The equivalent single-wheel load is calculated with the equation

ESWL = Single-wheel Load \* (MW response / SW response)

(5) The Corps of Engineers CBR equation is solved for the  $\alpha$  factor the same way as is done for the Boussinessq analysis.

Figures 9, 10, 11, 12, and 13 present  $\alpha$ -plots based on ESWL values obtained from the maximum vertical deflection, maximum vertical strain, maximum horizontal shear strain, maximum shear strain, and maximum octahedral strain parameters calculated on top of the subgrade, respectively. In Figure 9 it can be seen that the data of multiwheel gears is well below the data for single-wheel gears. A comparison of the  $\alpha$ -plots based on the strain parameters (Figures 10, 11, 12, and 13) revealed that the multiwheel data falls with the single-wheel data and that the data can be fit with one regression curve. This implies that using strain parameters as the basis for the calculations yields criteria which can be independent of gear type.

In comparing the data for the different criteria (Figures 10 through 13), it is not apparent that a single criteria provides a superior relationship over any other criteria. The data for all the criteria contain considerable scatter which could not be attributed to other parameters such as gear type, subgrade strength, or pavement thickness.

#### Strain Criteria

Another analytical approach was to correlate directly the computed strain values at the top of the subgrade with the performance (in terms of coverages to failure) of the test sections. This analytical approach would not utilize the CBR equation in the development of the criteria nor in the prediction of pavement performance in pavement design. Instead of plotting a-curves and using the CBR equation as the performance criteria, new criteria were developed for each strain parameter considered. In the development of the criteria, each of the test sections were analyzed using the ACNLEA computer program. The test sections were modeled as layered elastic systems with the layer properties determined as previously described. The loads applied to the test sections were modeled as circular areas of uniform pressure. Table 2 contains the values of both deflections and strains computed in the analysis of the test data. Figures 14 through 18 show the plots and regression fits of the data. The data for the deflection parameter (Figure 14) contains scatter that can clearly be attributed to gear type, indicating that a single criteria curve based on deflection would not be appropriate. The plots for the strain data produced regression curves very similar with no obvious superior relationship. None of the strain plots showed a significant difference between multiwheel and single-wheel data. This is illustrated in Figure 19 where the data for the maximum shear strain for the multiwheel and the single-wheel



Figure 9. Plot for the  $\alpha$ -curve criteria based on vertical deflection





16



Figure 11. Plot for the *a*-curve criteria based on maximum horizontal strain



strain

17



Figure 13. Plot for the a-curve criteria based on octahedral strain



Figure 14. Performance criteria for multilayer system based on vertical deflection

Take 2 Readin of the Analysis Performed on the Taxt Section Data

					Ţ	MAN Loyur System Andrews	the state			a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	lingle-Leyer System Analysis	ł	
-		1	Coverages to	Vertical		Mar. Hante.	Munt. Shace	Octobedra	Vertical	Vertical Strain	Max. Hank.	A. Bee	Occubedia
		5					Umme	una			une		
	0.65	0.9	35	0.1570	0.00232	0.00136	0.00128	60600.0	0.2370	0.00463	0.00420	0.0000	0.00055
~	44.0	0.8	1,700	0.1020	0.00146	0.00085	0.00206	0.00194	0.1440	0.00263	0.00236	0.00394	0.00373
-	18.0	18.0	2	0.1180	0.00249	0.00120	0.00111	0.00314	0.1410	0.00315	0.00348	0.00473	0,00446
4	20.5	0.81	8	0.0079	0.00214	0.00114	0.00294	0.00277	0.1180	0.00269	0.00283	0.00404	19600.0
uð	23.5	15.5	980	0.1030	0.00213	0.00116	0.00295	0.00279	0.1280	0.00292	0.00292	0.00438	0,00413
•	0.06	17.5	1,500	16/0.0	0.00151	0.00084	0.00210	0.00198	00000	0.00213	0.00202	070070	07000'0
~	0.04	9.	1,300	0.1040	0.00136	0.00081	0.00196	0.00183	0.1480	0.00253	0.00225	0.00178	0.00367
•	10.0	9	3,780	0.0372	0.00193	0.00104	0.00267	0.00261	0.0445	0.00248	0.00244	0.00372	00000
•	10.0	0.0	3,760	3880'0	0.00174	0.00084	0.00241	0.00227	9.0396	0.00220	0.00217	00000	11800.0
2	15.0	1.7	•	0.1630	0.00589	0.00348	0.00843	0.00795	0.2420	0.01150	0.01043	0.01720	0.01630
=	24.0	*	8	0.0028	0.00252	0.00148	0.00154	0.0034	0.1400	0.00504	0.00438	0.00754	E1700.0
12	15.0	3.7	8	0.0076	0.0056	0.00207	0.00508	0.00477	0.1450	0.0000	0.00626	0.01030	840000
2	12.0	14.0	216	9500'0	0.00167	11100.0	0.00235	0.00222	0,0463	0.00278	0.00282	0.00417	1000/0
1	12.0	2.0	176	0.0853	11600.0	0.00179	0.00438	0.00413	0.0827	0.0056	0.00583	0.00034	0.00704
5	12.0	9.9	Ş	0.0745	19500.0	0.00202	0.00494	0.00465	0.1080	0.00648	0.00067	0.00873	61800.0
=	9.9	9.9	ŧ	0.0374	0.00189	0.00067	0.00251	0.00236	0.0722	0.00860	0.00653	0.01000	0,00040
5	10.0	27.0	1,600	0.0426	0.00163	0.00019	0.00217	0.00199	0.0466	0.00184	0.00200	0.00315	0.00206
=	10.0	35.0	2,000	0.0425	0.00163	0.00079	0.00217	0.00199	0.0466	0.00184	0.00200.0	0.00315	0.00205
=	10.0	0'98	320	0.0622	0.00248	0.00111	0.00351	0.00125	0.0633	0.00115	0.00128	0.00611	0,00410
8	16.0	24.0	2,000	0.0487	0.00153	0.00084	0.00222	0.00203	0.0544	0.00214	0.00213	0.0034	0.0000
2	25.0	14.0	7,188	0.0614	0.00142	00000'0	0.00225	0.00190	0.0923	0.00228	0.00233	0/100'0	1000.0
22	33.0	9	ŧ	0.2530	0.00242	0.00127	0.00380	92200.0	0.2970	0.00389	0.00448	0.00437	19500.0
23	0.14	4.0	8	0.2190	0.00187	0.00010	0.00286	0.00256	0.2720	0.00280	0.00349	0.00484	0.00427
24	14.0	20:0	2,000	0.0519	0.00126	0.00087	0.00181	0.00166	0.0559	0.00172	0.00179	0.00200	0.00245
26	14.0	18.0	50	0.0700	0.00190	0.000	0.00259	0.00237	0.0824	0.00249	0.00280	0.00386	0.00355
<b>5</b>	20.0	27.0	2,000	0.000	0.00101	0.00054	0.00150	0.00136	0.0641	0.00143	0.00165	0.00227	0.00207
27	18.0	15.0	1.500	0.0629	0.00124	0.00068	0.00178	0.00163	0.0542	0.00185	0.00184	16200.0	0.00204
20	18.0	0.8	8	0.1480	0.00294	0.00169	0.00426	0.00391	0.1750	0.00556	0.00654	0.00073	0.00792
\$	16.0	12.0	310	0.0650	0.00147	0.00078	0.00212	0.00195	0.0727	0.00231	0.00231	0.00104	0,00310
8	24.0	<b>\$</b> .0	2	0.1540	0.00100	0.00105	0.00302	0.00269	0.1740	0.00331	0.00359	0.00638	0.00485
ī	0.05	<b>9.9</b>	1.860	0.1524	0.00151	0.00079	0.00236	0.00211	0.1730	0.00228	0.00289	0.00373	0-003-00
12	33.0	4.4	8	0.2278	0.00221	0.00116	0.00348	0.00308	0.2640	0.00348	0.00411	0.00670	0.00520
3	15.0	3.7	•	0.2640	0.00369	0.00204	0.00550	0.00482	0.2830	0.00880	0.00671	0.01000	0.000.0
7	24.0	4.4	ž	0.1960	0.00180	0.00097	0.00270	0.00240	0.2120	0.00294	0.00130	0.00488	0.00430
36	0.65		9 <u>9</u> ,	0.2010	0.00137	0.00072	0.00207	0.00182	0.2170	0.00200	0.00240	0.00100	0.0018
98	41.0	<b>0</b> ; <b>4</b>	3,850	0.1830	0.00105	0.00055	0.00160	0.00142	0.1996	0.00159	0.00184	0.00272	0.00238
37	24.0	5.0	196	0.1736	0.00162	0.00087	0.00243	0.00218	0.1870	0.00259	0.00281	0.00429	0.00178

19



Figure 15. Performance criteria for multilayer system based on vertical strain



Figure 16. Performance criteria for multilayer system based on maximum horizontal strain



Figure 17. Performance criteria for multilayer system based on maximum shear strain



Figure 18. Performance criteria for multilayer system based on octahedral strain



Figure 19. Comparison between multiwheel and single-wheel test data

gears are plotted separately. Regression curves were generated for both sets of data and for the combined data. Considering the overall scatter in the data, differences between the different regression curves cannot be considered to be significant.

Selecting a particular strain criteria to be used for design and evaluation appear to be a matter of personal choice. To preclude the elimination of any of the parameters for criteria, each of the regression curves have been included in the ACNLEA computer program and are available for pavement research. The criteria based on maximum shear strain was selected for the additional comparizons reported later in this report. Maximum shear strain was selected because of the relationship between pavement rutting and shear.

Performance criteria based on vertical strain had been previously developed<sup>6</sup> for use with layered elastic criteria. The criteria in this earlier study was developed to fit closely the current CBR design procedure. The development of these criteria resulted in vertical strain criteria that were a function of the subgrade strength. Figure 20 presents a comparison of the vertical strain criteria developed in the earlier study with the vertical strain criteria developed in this current study. It becomes obvious that the new strain criteria, independent of subgrade strength, are very close to earlier criteria for weaker subgrades. For high-strength subgrades, the allowable strains determined from the new criteria will be less than the allowable strains determined from the earlier criteria. For low-strength subgrades, the design pavement thicknesses should be about the same for both criteria, but



Figure 20. Comparison between vertical strain criteria from previous studies and the vertical strain criteria develop in this study

for high-strength subgrades the thicknesses determined using the new criteria will be greater than the thicknesses determined using the older criteria. Since the older strain criteria were developed to produce thicknesses that match the CBR design procedure, the comparison of the new strain criteria and older strain criteria would also apply to a comparison of the new strain criteria and the CBR design procedure.

#### SINGLE-LAYER ANALYSIS

A similar strain analysis was performed using a single layer to model the pavement structure. The analysis would correspond to a Boussinessg analysis except that a stiff layer was placed at 240 inches. The modulus of elasticity of the subgrade was set at 1,500 times the CBR, and the Poisson's ratio was set at 0.5 (as in the case for the Boussinessq analysis). In the singlelayer pavement system, the modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio values for the layers composing a pavement structure are assumed to be equal to the modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio of the subgrade, respectively. The data from the single-layer analysis are given in Table 2. Figure 21 presents the plot of the maximum shear strain as a function of coverages. The plots of the other strain parameters indicated the same trends. It can be noticed, by comparing data for multiwheel analysis (Figure 16) with the data presented for the single-layer analysis (Figure 21), that both plots indicate a similar correlation of strain with coverages. The regression line in the case of the single-layer system plots above the line corresponding to the multilayer system, but the scatter of the data points is about the same. There is no



Figure 21. Performance criteria for single-layer system based on maximum shear strain

compelling evidence in the analysis of these data to select one modeling system over the other. The computer program ACNLEA has the capability of modeling a pavement using both systems and has the performance criteria for both modeling systems.

#### COMPARISON OF DESIGN PROCEDURES

#### BASIS OF DESIGN COMPARISONS

Design comparisons between the new criteria and other existing design procedures were made. For these comparisons, hypothetical sections of typical flaxible pavements were designed from the current CBR design procedure. The layered system for the elastic multilayer design consisted of an AC layer, a granular base layer, a series of subbase layers (depending on the thickness of the pavement), and the subgrade layer. As shown in Figure 22, the thickness of the AC layers was set to 15 percent of the total thickness, the thickness of base layers equal to 20 percent of the total thickness, and a subbase layer equal to 65 percent of the total thickness. For the single-layer system, an AC layer equal to 15 percent of the total thickness was used in the analysis. Four different subgrade strengths were selected based on CBR values of 3, 6, 10, and 15.

Design comparisons were made between the multilayer system, single-layer system, Preston's slope method, and the current CBR design procedure. Comparisons were made for a 43.5-kip single wheel, a B-727 gear (2 tires), a B-747 gear (16 tires), and a proposed landing gear (24 tires) that would support an aircraft of over 1 million pounds. All of the comparisons were made for 10,000 coverages of these gears.

#### DETERMINATION OF REQUIRED THICKNESS FOR THE ELASTIC LAYER PROCEDURE

To determine the design pavement thickness using the elastic layer procedure, several thicknesses were assumed for the four different subgrade strengths selected. The maximum shear strain is computed at the top of the subgrade for each of the assumed pavement sections, and plots similar to the plots shown in Figure 23 are generated. From this figure, the design thickness can be determined by drawing a horizontal line corresponding to the limiting strain value obtained from criteria plots (Figures 17 and 21) at 10,000 coverages and reading the thickness for each subgrade strength value (Figure 23).

#### DESIGN COMPARISONS

Figures 24 and 25 show plots for the required thicknesses obtained for a 43.5-kip single-wheel load and the B-727 gear, respectively. Each curve in the plots illustrates the variation in thickness with subgrade CBR for the respective design procedures. These two plots show two general trends occurring in gears with few tires. First, Preston's slope method and the Corps of Engineers procedure tends to agree across the range of CBR values with thicknesses for the latter being slightly larger. Second, for CBR values of 4 and above, the multilayer and single-layer systems give thicker pavements than the Corps of Engineers or Preston's slope methods. For CBR values below 4, the multilayer approach results in thinner pavements than those obtained by the single-layer system. This is because credit given to the structural layers in the multilayer system results in lower strain values. For high CBR values, the two curves converge and give approximately the same results.

## **MULTI-LAYER SYSTEM**



Figure 23. Determination of required thicknesses for the elastic layer design procedure







B-727 (ONE GEAR), 10000 COVERAGES, GL=191000 LBS

Figure 25. Required thickness versus subgrade CBR for a B-727 twin gear
For the case of gears for heavier aircraft with many tires, the resulting behavior changes slightly. Figures 26 and 27 illustrate the plots for a B-747 and a proposed gear intended to support a million pound aircraft, respectively. It can be noted that the multilayer system consistently gives thinner sections than the other design procedures. It seems that for heavier gears with a large number of tires, the Corps of Engineers procedure tends to overestimate the required thickness, particularly for low strength subgrades. The exception is the case of high strength subgrade where the curves for the different procedures get closer together. It can be seen from Figure 27 that there are considerable reductions in design thickness if the multilayer or Preston's slope procedures are used for designing pavements on medium- or lowstrength subgrades. This fact may be attributed to the overlapping effect in the computation of the deflection factors for the equivalent single-wheel load in the case of the Corps of Engineers procedure. This overlapping effect can be demonstrated if Figure 27 is compared to Figure 24, where the plots were generated for a single wheel of the one million pound gear. The difference in the curves for each procedure corresponds to the influence or overlapping effect of the tires (and probably the tire arrangement) on the design thickness. It should be noted that for the heavier gears, the thickness of pavement exceeds the greatest thickness in the data base. Also, the comparisons are for a traffic level of 10,000 coverage, which is far more than the highest level of traffic for the data base.

## EFFECTS OF TIRE SPACING

Additional analyses were performed to assess the effect of tire spacing on the required thickness of a pavement. The resulting design thicknesses for twin and twin-tandem gears with various spacings were analyzed for subgrade CBR values of 3 and 15. The tires in these gears were assumed to have a 50-kip load and contact area of 285 square inches. Thickness comparisons were made between the maximum shear strain criteria as computed with the multilayer pavement model and the CBR design procedure.

The analysis was performed by setting a tire spacing and then computing the applied maximum shear strain at the subgrade level. This strain value was then used to obtain the design thickness above the subgrade using the criteria developed for maximum shear strain. The tires in the dual gears were spaced from 20 inches to 90 inches. For the purpose of this analysis, twin-tandem gears had a longitudinal spacing between tires equal to 1.25 times the transverse spacing. When the tires transverse spacing was changed, the longitudinal spacing was changed accordingly. Figures 28, 29, and 30 show the results of the analysis.

Figure 28 illustrates the required thicknesses for twin gears on a subgrade with a CBR of 3. The curves on the plot are for the multilayer system analysis and the CBR design procedure. This plot demonstrates that increasing the spacing between the tires in a twin gear decreases the required thickness of a pavement. The decrease in thickness with the increase in tire spacing is just slightly greater for the layered elastic procedure than for the CBR procedure. This indicates that greater load attenuation of adjacent tires is achieved when using the layered elastic procedure. Also shown is significantly greater thicknesses required by the CBR procedure.



Figure 26. Required thickness versus subgrade CBR for a heavy B-747 gear GEAR 1 (24 TIRES), COVERAGES=10000, GL=1.1 M POUNDS



Figure 27. Required thickness versus subgrade CBR for a multiwheel heavy gear



Figure 28. Effect of tire spacing (twin gear, 3 CBR subgrade)



Figure 29. Effect of tire spacing (twin-tandem gear, 3 CBR subgrade)

# 50 KIPS/TIRE, CBR=15



Figure 30. Effect of tire spacing (twin-tandem gear, 15 CBR subgrade)

Figure 29 illustrates the analysis performed for the twin-tandem gear and a 3 CBR subgrade. The load attenuation effects of adjacent tires are more readily apparent for the twin-tandem gear than was the twin gear. As with the twin gear, the CBR design procedure required the thicker pavement at all tire spacings. When the same twin-tandem gear was analyzed for a higher subgrade CBR equal to 15, the behavior changed significantly. Figure 30 shows the required thicknesses for the twin-tandem gear with variable spacing on a 15 CBR subgrade. Figure 30 shows that for tire spacings beyond 40 inches there is no overlapping effect of adjacent tires. For the CBR procedure, there continues to be effect of adjacent tires far beyond the 40 inches spac-The plot also shows that the CBR design procedure predicts, for the ing. 15 CBR subgrade, slightly thinner pavements than does the strain criteria. For a practical transverse spacing between 30 and 50 inches, the difference between the layered elastic procedure and the CBR procedure is only about 1 to 2 inches.

The comparison performed indicates a basic difference between the CBR design procedure and the layered elastic design procedure as to the effect of tire spacing and the required thickness of aircraft having multiwheel gear. The analysis of data produced performance criteria independent of the number of tires and tire spacing. To develop criteria for the CBR design procedure, the criteria had to be a function of the number of tires. This should also indicate that spacing would be a factor but is not considered. Since the analysis on the data performed by the layered elastic design procedure did produce criteria that are independent of the number and spacing of the tires, it is felt that the layered elastic design procedure can be used with a greater degree of confidence when considering the effects of tires on pavement requirements.

# DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

## DISCUSSION

The analysis of available test data for flexible pavements indicates justification for the suspicion that the deflection-based ESWL is not an appropriate parameter for determining pavement thicknesses for heavy multigear aircraft. Criteria can be developed from strain parameters that describe the pavement performance without resorting to separate thickness adjustment curves for different aircraft gear. Although the maximum shear strain computed on top of the subgrade was chosen for the design parameter, the vertical strain, the horizontal strain, or the octahedral strain could have been chosen. The strain criteria result in a greater attenuation of the overlapping load effects with distance from the load than does the current deflection-based ESWL procedure. The study also indicated some differences between classic CBR-thickness relationship and strain based thickness criteria. Even for single-wheel gear, the classic CBR equation under-predicts thickness for high subgrade CBR values and over-predicts thickness for very low subgrade CBR values, but it compared with strain-based thickness criteria. For multiwheel gears, the differences in load attenuation compensate for the under-prediction but magnify the over-prediction. Since the bounds of the data base are very limited, caution must be exercised in applying the results of the analysis to actual design and evaluation of pavements for heavy multiwheel aircraft. Particularly disconcerting is the extrapolation of the data from a few thousand coverages to hundreds of thousands and from a maximum thickness of 49 inches to thicknesses approaching 100 inches. To illustrate this point, the data for the maximum shear strain criteria were replotted from a log-log plot to an arithmetic plot as shown in Figure 31. When the data are shown in this manner, it becomes apparent that both the data for low coverage levels and the limited data at the higher coverage levels have no clear projection of the relationship between strain and coverage. Extrapolation to thicker pavements may also pose some danger. The premise of the design procedure is that the life of the pavement is increased by reducing the strain at the top of the subgrade. As the thickness of the granular material above the subgrade is increased, an increased portion of the surface rutting and surface cracking can be attributed to the behavior of the granular layers. The worry expressed can only be addressed by having a procedure which considers failure of the pavement as a system failure. For there to be shear in the subgrade, there also must be shear in the asphalt surfacing and granular base layers. To make giant leaps in pavement design methodology, radically new methodologies must be considered. The development of layered elastic design methodology is not the giant leap, but it is a step forward toward improved pavement design methodology. In any case, it will be only through extensive prototype testing and field evaluation that a flexible pavement design procedure can be developed and used with confidence for the design and evaluation of flexible pavements for significantly heavier multiwheel aircraft.

## CONCLUSIONS

**Based on the analysis of test data presented in this report, the follow**ing conclusions have been made:



Figure 31. Maximum shear strain criteria plotted in an arithmetic scale

(1) Criteria suitable for the design of flexible pavements for multiwheel aircraft have been developed. The criteria are independent of number of tires and tire spacing.

(2) The degree of confidence in using the new criteria in the design for flexible pavements for multiwheel aircraft is greater than the degree of confidence in using the current CBR design procedure. Even for the new criteria the degree of confidence must be considered to be very low. The low degree of confidence can be attributed to the extrapolation of the data beyond the bounds of the data and to unexplained scatter in the data.

(3) The use of a layered elastic computational model and a maximum allowable shear strain criteria (as a factor of coverages) at the top of the subgrade will result in thinner pavements for subgrades with low CBR values, but thicker pavements for subgrades with high CBR values. The time-honored CBR equation relating CBR, load, and thickness appears to be unconservative for high CBR values.

(4) Overlapping load effects attenuate with distance more rapidly with the new criteria than with the current CBR procedure. It is possible to use a distance cutoff with Boussinessq theory to compute ESWL values which would produce load repetition factors independent of the number of wheels in a gear. The cutoff distance best fitting the data is approximately 12 radii. (5) The strain criteria provide a new way of computing the aircraft classification number which would be superior to current procedure.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

As a result of the study, the following recommendations are presented for consideration:

(1) The layered elastic model should be employed for the analysis of flexible pavements subjected to new multiwheel aircraft. The pavement should be modeled using a multilayered pavement system. The performance criteria developed for maximum shear strain should be used to predict pavement performance.

(2) Studies should be undertaken to extend the bounds of the test data and to decrease the scatter of the existing test data. Such studies would involve the construction of full-scale test sections for the testing of multiwheel aircraft gears and studies of existing flexible pavements which have been sustaining a high volume of multiwheel aircraft. Additional analytical studies should be conducted for the existing test sections using new and improved pavement models.

(3) Long term performance studies should be started for newly constructed flexible pavements. Data bases should be maintained to follow pavement performance. For the long term the best performance data will be the performance of actual in service pavements, but such data are the most difficult and expensive to obtain. As an alternative to long term performance studies, performance studies of existing flexible pavements should be undertaken. In such studies flexible pavements which, for structural reasons, are in need of rehabilitation, would be evaluated and the data collected can be used to verify the proposed criteria. In this manner, a large volume of data could be collected at a relatively low cost.

(4) With the adoption of the layered elastic procedure for design of flexible pavements, consideration should be given to changing the method for computing the ACN and the PCN.

#### REFERENCES

- Ahlvin, R. G. 1991. "Origin of Developments for Structural Design of Pavements," Technical Report GL-91-26, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- 2. Ahlvin, R. G. 1958. "Consolidated CBR Criteria," <u>Journal of the Soil</u> <u>Mechanics and Foundations Division</u>, ASCE, Paper No. 1825.
- 3. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. 1962. "A Limited Study of Effects of Mixed Traffic on Flexible Pavements," Technical Report No. 3-587, Vicksburg, MS.
- Barker, W. R. and Brabston, W. N. 1975. "Development of a Structural Design Procedure for Flexible Airport Pavements," Technical Report S-75-17, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- Cooksey, D. L. and Ladd, D. M. 1971. "Pavement Design for Various Levels of Traffic Volume," Technical Report No. AFWL-TR-70-133, U.S. Air Force Weapons Laboratory, Kirtland Air Force Base, Albuquerque, NM.
- U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. 1952. "Design of Flexible Airfield Pavements for Multiple-Wheel Landing Gear Assemblies, Test Section with Lean Clay Subgrade," Report No. 1, Technical Memorandum No. 3-349, Vicksburg, MS.
- 7. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. 1947. "Flexible Pavement Behavior Studies," Interim Report No. 2, Vicksburg, MS.
- Hammitt, G. M., II, Hutchinson, R. L., Rice, J. L., Thompson, O. O., and Brown, D. N. 1971. "Multiple-Wheel Heavy Gear Load Pavement Tests, Analysis of Pavement Behavior," Technical Report S-71-17, Report 4, Volumes IIIB and IV, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.
- 9. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. 1950. "Investigation of Effects of Traffic with High-Pressure Tires on Asphalt Pavement," Technical Memorandum No. 3-312, Vicksburg, MS.
- O. J. Porter and Company, Consulting Engineer. 1948. "Accelerated Traffic Test of Stockton Airfield, Stockton, California (Stockston Test No. 2)," U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Sacramento District, Sacramento, CA.
- 11. Preston, O. W. 1991. "An Improved Method for Determining Aircraft Flexible Pavement Requirements," Report Number MDC K5509, Douglas Aircraft Company, McDonnell Douglas Corporation, Long Beach, CA.
- 12. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station. 1962. "Total Thickness and Compaction Requirements for Flexible Pavements to be Subjected to Channelized Traffic," Technical Report No. 3-610, Vicksburg, MS.

- Turnbull, W. J. and Ahlvin, R. G. 1957. "Mathematical Expression of the CBR (California Bearing Ration) Relations," <u>Proceedings</u>, Fourth International Conference on Soil Mechanics and Foundation Engineering, London, England.
- 14. Gonzalez, C. R. 1991. "A Computer Program for the Calculation of the Equivalent Single-Wheel Load Factor," Miscellaneous Paper GL-92-18, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Vicksburg, MS.

APPENDIX A: USER'S MANUAL FOR THE ACNLEA COMPUTER PROGRAM

# INTRODUCTION

#### Purpose

The ACNLEA computer program was written for the structural analysis of pavement test section data under the project "Super-Heavy Aircraft" sponsored by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and the Air Force. The program's main task is to compute strains, deflection, ACN values, and allowable aircraft loads for given pavement structures subjected to aircraft loadings.

#### General

The ACNLEA computer program is an analysis tool based on the solution of layered linear elastic half-space pavement structures. It consists of two computer codes to provide data input and analysis of a flexible pavement structure subject to a given loading. The first computer code (ACNIN) is for building of aircraft data files and the second code (ACNHS) is for the input of a pavement section, selecting performance criteria, performing the analytic calculations and obtaining the results. The program will compute the pavement PCN as defined by the equation from the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) manual, the allowable aircraft load based on one or all of five performance criteria, an allowable loading for a single wheel of the aircraft. an allowable loading of a standard wheel, and the aircraft ACN for the allowable loading as determined from the allowable load of the standard single wheel. The performance criteria have been developed from the analysis of 37 test sections. The criteria developed are based on deflections, vertical strains, horizontal strains, maximum shear strains, horizontal shear strain, and octahedral strains computed at the top of the subgrade. The allowable loads listed in the program output for the aircraft, the aircraft single wheel, and the standard single wheel are loads that produce a computed response equal to the allowable response as determined from the criteria. Therefore, all these loads are considered to be equivalent in terms of pavement response parameters. The aircraft ACN presented in the output is the equivalent load for the standard single wheel converted to kilograms then divided by 500. Also presented in the output are the allowable response parameters (deflection or strains), the computed pavement response for the aircraft gear, a single aircraft tire and the standard tire, and the coordinates for horizontal location of critical pavement response.

# Aircraft

The program will consider any aircraft in the analysis but only one aircraft at a time. The aircraft data are input through the interactive program (ACNIN) that builds and stores aircraft data files. When the analysis program (ACNHS) is executed, the aircraft to be used for the section analysis is selected from a list of aircraft data files. The basic aircraft data needed are the wheel spacing, aircraft load, wheel load, and either the tire contact pressure or the tire contact area. In building the aircraft data files the standard single-wheel data are automatically added to the data files by the input program. Also needed is geometrical data to set up a search grid for locating the maximum value for each of the response parameters. Once built the aircraft data files may be retained for future use.

# Pavement Section

Two types of pavement sections may be considered for analysis. One type of pavement section is where the pavement is considered to be a single-layer half-space system. In this single-layer analysis the pavement structure is assumed to have the same properties as the subgrade. The other type of pavement section is considered multilayered with each layer having properties as determined by a standard procedure. The section data are input interactive with the execution of the analysis program (ACNHS). Built into the analysis program are performance criteria for both types of pavement sections. The proper criteria are automatically selected depending on the choice of pavement type to be analyzed. The basic data required for input of a pavement section are the structure thickness and the subgrade CBR. The selection is made between the single-layer system or the multilayer system. The properties of the section required for the layered elastic analysis are automatically generated by the program and stored in a temporary data file.

## Other Program Data

In addition to selection of the aircraft and pavement section, three other selections are made with the execution of the ACNHS computer program. The first selection is between an analysis based on constant tire contact area or constant contact pressure. The analysis for the constant contact area would be similar to the FAA and Army flexible pavement procedure which uses a constant contact area for determining the equivalent single-wheel load. The constant contact pressure analysis relates to computing aircraft ACN values based on a standard (tire pressure) single wheel. The second selection to be made is the response parameter for the analysis. This selection need only be made for the constant tire contact pressure case. The selection is for one of the five response parameters mentioned previously. For an analysis with a constant tire contact area the analysis is given for all response parameters. The third selection is for a cutoff distance. The cutoff distance is the maximum distance from the center of the tire for which a response parameter will be computed. This is provided because with widely spaced gears, search grid distances may be generated for which the layered elastic program is no longer accurate. The actual cutoff distance used in the program is equal to the thickness of the pavement structure plus the cutoff distance (entered by the user) times the radius of a tire contact area.

## BASIC COMPUTER OPERATIONS

# COMPUTER REQUIREMENTS

The ACNLEA computer program was coded for IBM compatible personal computers running under the disk operating system (DOS) 3.0 and above. Because of the math intensive nature of the program, a PC with a fast microprocessor and a math coprocessor is highly recommended.

To run this program a PC with 500 bytes of free memory is required. Although not required, a computer with a hard disk subsystem is also recommended, as this will increase program speed and will provide sufficient disk space for input, output, and temporary files. The program has the option of using a pointing device (mouse) to make on-screen selection easy to perform.

# USER'S MANUAL CONVENTIONS

The following typeface conventions are used to describe the different features included with the program.

Typeface Convention	Description		
(710)	 Instructs the user to press the designated key on the keyboard (in this case the F10 key).		
C >	Refers to the DOS prompt.		
C > ACN	Instructs a user to type the command at the DOS prompt and then press the (ENTER) key on the keyboard.		
[OK]	Refers to an on-screen button or icon that can be selected or "pressed" with a pointing device (in this case the [OK] button).		
(UpArrow)	Instructs the user to press the up arrow key on the keyboard.		
(DnArrow)	Instructs the user to press the down arrow key on the keyboard.		
[CBR]	Refers to an input field where the user has the option to type a value.		
200000	Indicates to the user to type a field value in an input screen.		

## DESCRIPTION OF COMPUTER PROGRAMS

# MAIN MENU PROGRAM

The ACNIN and ACNHS programs are executed from a control program called ACN, whose only function is to provide a menu for the ACNIN and ACNLEA programs. This program is run by entering: C > ACN at the DOS prompt and press the (ENTER) key. The menu of programs is shown in Figure Al. Pressing the [Input Aircraft Loads] button runs the ACNIN program and pressing the [Compute ACN Values] button runs the ACNHS program. A [Help] button is also provided with a brief description on the options available. To end the program and return to DOS the [Exit to DOS] button is pressed. As an option, the user may execute the ACNIN program or the ACNHS program directly from DOS by typing the executable names at the DOS prompt.

#### ACNIN INPUT COMPUTER PROGRAM

#### General

ACNIN is the input program for the aircraft data. This program builds a load data file containing the necessary data for a gear assembly or aircraft. To run the ACNIN program the user can select the [Input Aircraft Loads] button shown in Figure Al or alternatively type: C > ACNIN. A welcome screen is displayed which can be passed by pressing the (ENTER) key. After passing the welcome screen, the main input screen shown in Figure A2 is displayed. This screen is subdivided into three areas: (1) Aircraft Information, (2) Search Grid Data, and (3) a Push Button Menu at the bottom of the screen.

# Aircraft Information

A description of the input fields in this screen area follows (refer to Figure A2). To navigate between the various input fields the (UpArrow), (DNArrow), (ENTER) key may be used. Additionally, the user may click directly in the desired field with a suitable pointing device.

(1) Designation: Enter a brief description of the problem or type of aircraft. The length of the description is limited to the length of the input field itself. For example: B-747 200 Kips. Filling this field is optional.

(2) Gross Load: Enter the gross load (in pounds) of the gear or aircraft to be used in the analysis. For example: the 200,000 in the field (Figure A2) represents the lost to be applied to one gear of a B-747 airplane. Filling this field is required.

(3) Fraction of Load on Gear to Analyze: Enter the fraction (not the percent) of the gross load entered in the previous field (Gross Load that acts on the gear to be used in the analysis. For example: 1.0 shown in Figure A2 indicates that all of the 200,000-lbs load is to act on the four tires to be used in the analysis. Filling this field is required.

Select this option to enter information related to the aircraft.

Figure Al. Main menu for the ACNLEA computer programs

Laster-BL Aver	R. Fist
1. Foot	
	21,863
137.27	21
R. WWW.bda	2.99

Figure A2. Input screen for the ACNIN computer program

(4) Number of Tires: Enter the number of tires composing the gear to be analyzed. Note that the maximum number of tires is 50. In the example shown in Figure A2, only four tires of the B-747 airplane are to be used in the analysis. Filling this field is required.

(5) Tire Contact Pressure: Enter the tire contact pressure (in pounds per square inch) of the tires in the gear assembly. For most design and analysis problems this contact pressure may be assumed to be equal to the tire inflation pressure. Filling this field is required.

(6) Load Data File Name: Enter a name for the load data file. This name needs to be a DOS compatible file name, 8 characters for the file name and 3 characters for the file extension (In the example shown in Figure A2 the data file will be named B-747200.LOA). If the file extension is omitted, the LOA extension is used by default. Filling this field is required.

# Search Grid Data

The search is used to ensure the determination of the maximum value of the response parameter. Except for the case of the horizontal shear strain, the maximum value can be found if a grid is set up covering the area between the tires. When considering horizontal shear strain, it is important to extend the grid outside the area of the tires.

Because the computer programs are math intensive during the determination of the response parameters, the use of symmetry and fewer nodes in the grid will help reduce the calculation time. For example, in a twin-tandem gear only one-quarter of the gear needs to be searched as is illustrated by Figure A3. The spacing between the nodes in a grid depends on the tire spacing and the degree of accuracy desired. A description of the input fields in this screen area follows:

(1) X and Y Grid Origin: This is the location of the grid origin. It describes one of the corners of the search grid rectangle. Filling this field is required.

(2) Number of Lines in the X and Y directions: These X and Y values define the number of lines (or nodes) that make up the grid. The more lines entered, the finer the grid will become. The number of lines need not be equal along the X and Y axes (the grid does not need to be symmetric). Filling this field is required.

(3) Increment in the X and Y directions: These values are the spacing between the lines (or nodes) in the grid along the X and Y axes, respectively. These increments may be either positive or negative numbers. Positive numbers indicate the grid origin is located at the bottom-left corner of the grid rectangle, and negative numbers indicate the grid origin is located at the upper-right corner of the grid. Fine mesh grids provide better resolution for determining the maximum values of pavement response but require more computer time.



Figure A3. Search grid for a twintandem gear

On fast personal computers (with fast Intel 80386 and 80486 processors) the increment value can be set to 1 or 2 inches and without creating an unacceptable long run.

# Button Menu

(1) [TIRE COORD.] Button: Click on this button or press the (F2) key to open an input screen for the gear tire coordinates. Figure A4 presents this input screen that consists of a series of X-Y tire coordinates pairs. The coordinates shown in Figure A3 are for a twin-tandem gear having spacing of 44 inches by 58 inches.

(2) [LOAD] Button: Click on this button or press the (F3) key to load from disk load data file already built. A list of available load data files will be presented from which a data file may be selected.

(3) [SAVE] Button: Click on this button or press the (F4) to save the load data file after finishing entering all data for an aircraft. The aircraft load data file must be saved in order to use the data entered in the ACNHS computer program.

(4) [CANCEL] Click on this button or press the (Esc) key to disregard any data entered. When pressed, the input fields will be re-initialize and the user may type new values.



Figure A4. Input screen for the gear tire coordinates

(5) [HELP] Button: Click on this button or press the (F1) key to get an explanation on the input fields of this screen.

(6) [EXIT] Button: Click on this button or press the (F9) key to end this program and return either to the menu of programs or to the DOS prompt.

ACNHS COMPUTER PROGRAM

# General

The ACNHS program provides input of the pavement structure, selection of control parameters, computational analysis, and output of data and results. The program is executed by selecting the [Compute ACN Values] button from the main menu of the ACN program as shown in Figure Al or by typing C > ACNHS at the DOS prompt. After the welcome screen is displayed, a main input screen like the one shown in Figure A5 is presented. This screen consists of a series of input areas defining the method of calculation, type of layer system to use, performance criteria, subgrade strength category, traffic coverage level, pavement section, load data files, response parameter cutoff distance, and a button menu. The various input fields are described in the following paragraphs.

# Method of Calculation (ASSUME CONSTANT)

This is the input field described by the ASSUME CONSTANT section in Figure A5. Two methods are available: tire contact area and contact pressure.



Figure A5. ACNHS input screen

When the tire contact area is assumed to be constant, the calculations throughout the computer program are greatly shortened because the relationship between load and pavement response is linear as illustrated in Figure A6a. This means that knowing the load value at a particular response allows the calculation of the allowable load at the allowable response (from the performance criteria) by simply projecting up or down the line. Notice that only one load-strain point defines the line since it must pass through the origin. When the contact area is chosen, it is possible to handle the computations for all criteria in one run of the program. However, when the tire contact pressure is assumed to be constant, the relationship between load and pavement response is not linear as illustrated in Figure A6b. In this case, an iterative procedure must be followed in which a load is assumed and a response is calculated and compared to the allowable response given by a selected performance criteria. If the computer response is different from the allowable response, then a new load is assumed and the procedure repeated until a match is achieved (within a certain tolerance). When the constant pressure is chosen, only one criteria can be considered in one run of the program. To select a calculation method move the cursor to the desired method and press (ENTER) or click on it with a pointing device.

# Type of System (LAYER SYSTEM)

This input allows the selection of either a single-layer pavement system or a multilayer pavement system. The performance criteria in terms of strains values and deflections will be selected for either the single-layer or multilayer pavement structures. In the single-layer pavement system, the modulus

of elasticity and Poisson's ratio values for the layers composing a pavement structure are assumed to be equal to the modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio of the subgrade, respectively. The subgrade modulus is estimated by the relationship: E = 1,500 CBR, where E is the modulus of elasticity and CBR is the subgrade strength index (see ASTM 4429, MIL-STD-621A). In the multilayer pavement system, appropriate values for the modulus and Poisson's ratio are assigned to each individual layer. In this manner, the strength characteristics of the various layers can be taken into account more rationally. The computer program automatically assigns appropriate modulus and Poisson's ratio values to the various layers based on the subgrade CBR and the thicknesses of the layers. To select a layered system move the cursor to the layered system desired and press (ENTER) or click on it with a pointing device.

#### Pavement Performance Criteria (CRITERIA)

Five different pavement performance criteria have been developed and implemented into the ACNHS program. The criteria are based on the vertical deflection, vertical strain, maximum horizontal shear strain, maximum shear strain, and octahedral strain. The criteria were obtained from analysis of available data of full scale test sections conducted by the Corps of Engineers and other federal agencies. These criteria relate calculated response parameters (strains or deflections) computed at the top of the subgrade to the number of coverages that caused the test sections to fail. The following equations describe the linear regression curves for the response parameters implemented in the program.



Figure A6. Relationship between load and pavement response parameter in an elastic system

Single-Layer System Criteria:

Allow. Vertical Deflection:  $LOG_{10}$  (D<sub>v</sub>) = -0.5160-0.1635  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Vertical Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (vs) = -1.9875-0.2043  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Allow. Max. Horiz. Shear Strain: LOG<sub>10</sub> (mhs) - -1.9877-0.2000 Allow. LOG<sub>10</sub> (COVERAGES) Allow. Max. Shear Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (max) = -1.8098-0.1992  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Octahedral Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (<sub>octs</sub>) = -1.8335-0.2027  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Allow. Multi-Layer System Criteria: Allow. Vertical Deflection:  $LOG_{10}$  (D<sub>v</sub>) = -0.6816-0.1355  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Vertical Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (vs) = -2.2977-0.1549  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES) Allow. Allow. Max. Horiz. Shear Strain: LOG<sub>10</sub> (mbs) = -2.3809-0.1452 LOG<sub>10</sub> (COVERAGES) Allow. Max. Shear Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (mss) = -2.1538-0.1504  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES)

Allow. Octahedral Strain:  $LOG_{10}$  (<sub>octa</sub>) = -2.1772-0.1546  $LOG_{10}$  (COVERAGES)

# Subgrade CBR Strength Category (SUBGRADE STRENGTH)

Options are provided in this input area to select the desired subgrade strength category or to input the subgrade CBR directly. The categories are: High (15 CBR), Medium (10 CBR), Low (6 CBR), and Ultralow (3 CBR). The user may select one strength category or may enter a suitable subgrade CBR value at the [CBR=\_\_\_] input field. Selecting one of the four standard categories automatically updates the [CBR=\_\_\_] field.

#### Traffic Coverage Level (COVERAGE LEVEL)

The standard traffic coverage level for ACN determinations is 10,000 coverages, which is automatically set when the programs starts. Any desired coverage level may be input directly in the data field.

# Response Parameter Cutoff Distance (CUTOFF DISTANCE)

The cutoff distance allows the user to physically cut the influence of a response parameter at a certain distance away from the center of a load. The cutoff distance is expressed in terms of the radius of contact area of the tires in a gear assembly. The actual cutoff distance is the input distance plus the pavement total thickness. This cutoff distance varies with the tire imprint area and load. Some researches have used values that vary from 10 to 25 times the radius of contact area. If no cutoff distance is desired, the cutoff distance should be set sufficiently large to be greater than any distance from a grid node to the center of a loaded area.

#### Trail Pavement Section (THICKNESSES)

This section of input fields allows the user to enter the desired pavement thicknesses to represent the pavement section. The five input fields that make up this category are: [Total=\_\_\_], [Asphalt=\_\_\_], [Base=\_\_\_] . . [Subbase-\_\_\_], and [Calc. Depth-\_\_\_]. The user may enter the total pavement thickness and the computer program will automatically assign asphalt, base, and subbase thicknesses based on a "standard pavement section." This standard section is broken down as follows: Asphalt = 0.15 x Total, Base = 0.20 x Total, and Subbase - Total - Asphalt - Base. However, the user may change these values by typing the appropriate values in the input fields. The depth of calculation for the response parameters should be set to the total depth of the pavement because the performance criteria is based on the response at the top of the subgrade. The computer program will automatically set this value to the total thickness unless the asphalt, base, and subbase thicknesses are changed. The user must be certain that the calculation depth is at the correct depth.

Note: The program allows the user to determine deflections and/or strains at different depths by typing different values at the [Calc. Depth] field. However, the user must be aware that the allowable loads and ACN values calculated will not be based on appropriate criteria.

## Load Data Files (DATA FILES)

The user can type in the name of a load data file or select one by pressing the [LOAD] button. Notice that this file must be already created by the ACNIN computer program discussed in previous sections.

# **Rigid Boundary Layer**

By pressing the [CALC] button, one additional window will open (Figure A7) asking the user to enter or accept the depth to a rigid boundary. When using the layered elastic theory, it has been found in the past that surface deflection basins can be better matched if a rigid boundary is set at a depth of approximately 20 feet. The use of this rigid layer counter-acts the assumption that the subgrade layer extends downward to infinity. The user may enter the desired depth or press the [OK] button to accept the default value (240 inches). The user may press the [IGNORE] button if no rigid layer boundary is desired.

#### Button Menu

(1) [CALC] Button: Click on this button or press the (F10) key to start performing the calculations.

(2) [ACN RESULTS] Button: Click on this button or press the (F5) key to view any existing results saved on disk. When the calculations are performed by pressing the [CALC] button, this step is automatically performed.

(3) [HELF] Button: Click on this button or press the (F1) key to get an explanation on the input fields of this screen.

(4) [EXIT] Button: Click on this button or press the (F9) key to end this program and return either to the menu of programs or to the DOS prompt.



Figure A7. Screen for the rigid boundary layer depth

#### **EXAMPLE PROBLEMS**

## **EXAMPLES DESCRIPTION**

This section presents two step-by-step examples to illustrate the various features of the computer programs. In these examples, a pavement analysis is conducted for a B-747 twin-tandem gear (44 x 58 inches). The load on a single 4-tire gear is equal to 200,000 pounds and the tire pressure equal to 187.27 pounds per square inch. The allowable load is desired for a pavement thickness of 30 inches on a 15 CBR subgrade soil. The calculations are required to be based on the single-layer criteria and a cut-off distance equal to 10 radii. For the first example, a constant tire contact area is used.

For the second example, a constant tire constant pressure and a multilayer analysis are used. Since the input of load data in the ACNIN program and the analysis parameters in the ACNHS program are common for both examples, the user may follow the first example to change appropriate parameters in the second example.

#### **EXAMPLE PROBLEM 1**

Running the Program

(1) The first step is to run the computer program. At the DOS prompt type: C > ACN. A menu of the programs is displayed as shown in Figure A1.

(2) Select the [Input Aircraft Loads] button to create a load data file by moving the cursor to the button and pressing (ENTER) or by clicking on it with a mouse. Press the (ENTER) key to continue at the welcome screen. The load data screen will be opened and ready for input.

## Entering Load Data

(3) Move the cursor to the [Designation:] field (or click on it) and type: <u>B747 Gear 200K</u>.

(4) In this example the gross load is equal to the gear load. Move the cursor to the [Gross Load, GL (1bs):] field and type: <u>200000</u>. Note: Move the cursor by pressing the (Tab), (Shift-Tab), or the (ENTER) keys.

(5) Move to the [Fraction of GL on gear to analyze:] field and type: <u>1.0</u>. Note: The ratio (gear load/aircraft load) = 1.0.

(6) Move to the [Number of Tires in Gear (Max= 50):] field and type: 4.

(7) Move to the [Load Data File Name:] field and type: <u>B-747200,LOA</u>. This is the load data file that will be read by the ACNHS program to compute the ACN values and allowable loads.

(8) Press the [TIRE GOORD.] button or press the (F2) key on the keyboard to enter the gear tire coordinates. At the next screen enter the tire coordinates as indicated in Figure A3. Notice that the origin of the coordinate system was located at the center of the gear. When finished entering the tire coordinates, press the [OK] button or the (F10) key on the keyboard to accept the input.

(9) The next step is to build the search grid. Since the gear is symmetric, only one quadrant needs to be gridded to compute the maximum response parameters. Figure A8 depicts the extension of the search grid for this problem. The search grid origin is conveniently set at the geometrical center of the gear. With the grid origin set at the center of the gear and by setting the number of lines along the X-axis to 21 and the X-increments to 2 inches, a distance of 40 inches (20 at 2 inches) is covered which will provide search points outside the outer tire. In the same manner, setting the number of lines along the Y-axis to 21 and the Y-increments to 2.6 inches, a distance of 52 inches is covered which is also beyond the tire. These X- and Y-increments also guarantee that at least one point is directly underneath a tire. To input this grid, move to the X- and Y- origin and enter zero in both fields. Enter a value of 21 for the number of lines in the [X- and Y-Lines] fields. Finally, enter a value of 2.0 inches in the [DX-Incr.] field and a value of 2.6 inches in the [DY-Incr.] field.

At this point the input screen should look like the one shown in Figure A2. To save this file, press the [SAVE] button or press the (F4) key. After the file has been saved, press the [EXIT] button or press the (F9) key to exit this program and return the menu of programs.

# Specifying Calculation Parameters

Now that the load data file has been created, the ACNHS program can be executed. To execute the program select the [Compute ACN Values] button from the menu of programs (Figure A1). At the welcome screen press (ENTER) to continue. The main input screen is displayed.

(10) For this example, a constant tire contact area will be used. Move the cursor to the tire contact area in the [ASSUME CONSTANT] box and press (ENTER) or click on it with the mouse.

(11) In the same manner, select the single-layer criteria in the [LAYER SYSTEM] BOX.

Note: Since the tire contact area was assumed to be constant, all the response parameters under the [CRITERIA] box will be calculated and presented in the results even though only one is selected. However, if the contact pressure is assumed to be constant, then the user must select only one of these response parameters in which the program is going to iterate on.



Figure A8. Extension of the search grid for the example problems

(12) The subgrade CBR strength for this example is 15. Move the cursor to high in the [SUBGRADE STRENGTH] box and press (ENTER) or alternatively move to the [CBR-\_\_\_] input field and type 15.

(13) Since the ACN values are desired, a coverage level of 10,000 must be used to obtain the ACN, which would correspond to the ICAO ACN. Move to the [COVERAGE LEVEL] field and type 10,000.

(14) Move to the [In Raddi] field of the [CUTOFF DISTANCE] box and type 100.

(15) For this example problem the ACN values and aircraft allowable loads will be determined for a 30-inch pavement. The ACN will correspond to the allowable aircraft load. Move to the [Total=\_\_\_\_] field in the [THICK-MESSES (in)] box and type 30. The program will automatically assign preselected thicknesses for the asphalt, base, and subbase layer. Because in this example the single-layer system will be used, there is no need to change this values since all layers will have the same modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio. However, if this were not the case, the user may type different thicknesses values for those layers. In addition, the computer program will automatically assign the calculation depth in the [Calc Depth (in)] field to be equal to the total thickness of the pavement.



Figure A9. Example screen displaying a list of available load data files

(16) The last input in this screen will be to select the load data file for this problem. Press the [LOAD] button or press the (F4) key to display a list of available load data files. A screen similar to Figure A9 is next displayed. Move the selection bar to the data file B-747200.LOA created before and press (ENTER) twice. The user may also use the mouse to "scroll down" the window if necessary, click of the file name, and press the [OK] button or press the [F10] key. The program will come back to the previous input screen. The screen should look like the one shown in Figure A5. Press the [CALC] button or press the (F10) key to perform the calculations.

(18) A window asking about the rigid boundary layer is presented. Press the [OK] button or press the (F10) key to accept the default value. A window presenting the search grid status is displayed in the middle of the screen to indicate the program is performing calculations.

# Viewing ACN Results

After the calculations are performed, a window containing all results is displayed. Figure AlO shows a partial view of the ACN results for the example problem. The user may scroll up or down this window to view different parts of the output by using the (UpArrow) or (DnArrow) keys or by clicking with the mouse on the right scrolling bar. If the [PRINT] button or the (F3) key area is pressed, a screen displaying available print options is shown as illustrated in Figure All. The print options are:



Figure A10. Partial view of the ACN results for the example problem 1



Figure All. Available print options for the ACNHS computer program

A18

[ACH Results]: Only prints the ACN results. [LOAD Data File]: Only prints the load data file use for the calculations [STRUCTURE Data File]: Only prints the pavement structure built by the program [ALL Data Files]: Prints all input and output data files [CANCEL]: Cancels the printing operations and returns to the output window

Brief Discussion of the Results of Example 1

Figure A12 contains a printout of all the input and output data files generated by the program. The first few lines contain the load information, pavement thickness, and subgrade CBR. The pavement PCN value and the allowable standard wheel load (which are based on the Corps of Engineers CBR equation) are printed. Since the analysis is for a constant area, the allowable aircraft load, allowable single wheel load, allowable standard wheel load, and the ACN values for all the performance criteria have been computed and are displayed under the STRAIN CRITERIA heading. The allowable loads are computed by:

Allow. Aircraft Load - Aircraft Load x (Allow. Response/Calculated Gear Response) Allow. Single-Wheel Load - Tire Load x (Allow. Response/Calculated Single-Wheel Response) Allow. Standard Wheel Load - Standard Wheel Load x (Allow. Response/Calculated Standard-Wheel Response) ACN - (Allowable Standard Wheel Load /2.2/500)

where "response" stands for the pavement performance criteria used (i.e., deflection, vertical strain, etc.) and "allowable" stands for the permissible deflection or strain from the performance criteria. These strain and deflection responses are presented in the next four columns following the allowable load and ACN values table. Also printed are the locations where the maximum values of these responses occur. The rest of this output file contains the load data file and the pavement structure file used for the calculations. Note that although only one aircraft was entered (the B-747 gear) this load data file contains data for two aircraft. The first part of this section contains the data that corresponds to the "standard single-wheel tire" used to calculate the ACN values (calculations of ACN values are in reference to this standard tire). The second section in this example output contains the actual gear entered for the analysis. Finally, the pavement structure automatically built by the computer program is printed. This section contains the layer thicknesses, modulus of elasticity values, Poisson's ratios, and calculation depth. Note that by assuming several trail pavement thicknesses (which in turn corresponds to an allowable aircraft load), a plot of ACN versus allowable aircraft load can be constructed for a specific CBR strength category.

# **EXAMPLE PROBLEM 2**

The same data in example 1 will be used in example 2 with the exception of the layer system, performance criteria, and the use on a constant contact

SINGLE-LAYE	R CRITERIA - C	CONSTANT TIRE	CONTACT AREA	
Aircraft	= 8-74	17 Gear 2		
Aircraft Initial Load (1bs)	= 200	000.00		
Depth(in)	-	30.00		
Subgrade CBR	=	15.00		
CBR EQUATION				
Pavement PCN	-	126.11		
Allow. Standard Whe	el Load = 138	3718.97		
Radii Cutoff Distan	ce =	10.00		
Coverage Level		10000.00		
STRAIN CRITERI	A			
Performance	Allowable	Allowable	Allowable S	TD ACN
Criteria			Wheel Load	
Deflection	266052.62	113543.47	112603.45	102.37
Vertical Strain	309205.50	75653.03	74000.53	67.27
Vertical Strain Horis. Shear Strain	289863.45	90509.05	88709.95	80.65
Max. Shear Strain	307915.91	79585.68	77847.28	70.77
Octahedral Strain				
Performance	Allowable	Gear	Single AC	Standard
Criteria	Strain at		ire Strain	SW Tire
C	overage Level		Response	Response
Deflection	.6761E-01	.5082E-01	.2977E-01	.2402E-01
Vertical Strain	.1568E-02	.1014E-02	.1036E-02	.8475E-03
Horiz. Shear Strain		.1125E-02	.9007E-03	.7352E-03
Nax. Shear Strain		.1607E-02	.1554E-02	.1271E-02
Octahedral Strain	.2268E-02	.1484E-02		.1199E-02
COORDINATES OF MAX. STRAIN OR DEFLECTION				
Performance	X-Coord.	Y-Coord.		
Criteria	(in)	(in)		
		<b>,,</b>		

Criteria	(11)	(11)	
Deflection	14.00	23.20	
Vertical Strain	22.00	29.00	
Horiz. Shear Strain	32.00	40.60	
Max. Shear Strain	22.00	31.90	
Octahedral Strain	24.00	31.90	

# Figure A12. Printout containing the results of the example problem 1 (Continued)

LOAD Data File Job Title STANDARD SINGLE WHEEL No. of Aircraft Aircraft Identification # 1 STANDARD-SW Gross Load 40000.00 Fraction of Gross Load on Gear to be analyzed 1.0000 No. of Tires Tire Radius Cont.Area Cont.Press. Tire Load X-coord. Y-coord. (in) (sq.in) (pounds) (psi) (in) (in) No. ------------181.1875 1 8.383 220.766 40000.00 .00 .00 Search grid X-Origin Y-Origin No.X-Incr DX-size No.Y-Incr DY-size 0.0 1.00 0.Ö 1.00 30 1 Aircraft Identification # 2 -747 Gear 200K Gross Load 200000.00 Fraction of Gross Load on Gear to be analyzed 1.000 No. of Tires Tire Radius Cont.Area Cont.Press. Tire Load X-coord. Y-coord. (pounds) No. (sq.in) (psi) (in) (in) (in) 1 9.22 266.99 187.27 50000.00 -22.00 -29.00 187.27 2 9.22 266.99 50000.00 22.00 -29.00 3 266.99 187.27 50000.00 -22.00 29.00 9.22 4 9.22 266.99 187.27 50000.00 22.00 29.00 Search grid X-Origin Y-Origin No.X-Incr DX-size No.Y-Incr DY-size •0Ŏ .00 21 2.00 21 2.90 STRUCTURE Data File Job Title STANDARD SECTION Number of Pavements 1 Number Thicknesses & Moduli Variations 1 1 **Pavement** Description Flexible Pavement Slab Flexural Strength (only for rigid pavements) 0.00 No. of Layers 3 Layer Thicknesses Modulus of Poissons Interface Number ( in ) Elasticity Ratio Condition Layer Code ( psi ) 30.00 1 22500.00 .50 0 .00 2 210.00 22500.00 .50 0 .00 3 1000000.00 . 50 Δ No. of Depths 1 Depth No. Depth (in) 30.00 1

-

Figure A12. (Concluded)

pressure. The desired layer system is the multilayer criteria, constant contact pressure will be used, and the analysis will be performed for the maximum shear strain response parameter.

(1) Following the selection procedure described in example 1, select the Constant Pressure option in the ASSUME CONSTANT box (refer to Figure A13).

(2) Select the Multi-Layer Criteria option in the [LAYER SYSTEM] box and the Max. Shear Strain option in the [CRITERIA] box (refer to Figure A13). All other calculation parameters remain the same.

(3) Press the [CALC] button to perform the calculations. Since in this example the tire contact pressure was assumed to be constant, the program needs to perform an iterative procedure as mentioned earlier and will take more time to complete the calculations.

(4) A window asking about the rigid boundary layer is presented. Press the [OK] button or press the (F10) key to accept the default value. A window presenting the search grid status is displayed in the middle of the screen to indicate the program is performing calculations.

(5) After the calculations are done, a screen showing the results is displayed as illustrated in Figure Al4. The user may wordl up and down the data window to revise the results. Notice that in this example, only the results for the selected response parameter (max. shear strain) are presented.

(6) If desired these results can be printed by pressing the [PRINT] button shown in Figure Al4. Figure Al5 contains a printout of the results of this example.

Brief Discussion of the Results of Example 2

Under the STRAIN CRITERIA heading (refer to Figure A15) the allowable standard load, aircraft ACN, allowable aircraft load, and calculated allowable strains are printed. Since the run is for a constant pressure, the results are for only one criteria. The allowable standard load is the load on the standard single-tire that will give a calculated strain equal to the permissible maximum shear strain given by the criteria. The tire characteristics of the standard tire are used to determine this strain. On the other hand, the allowable aircraft load is based on the gear characteristics of the aircraft and is also defined as the load that will give a calculated strain equal to the permissible strain. From the allowable standard load the aircraft ACN value is computed using the equation:

ACN = (Allowable Standard Load /2.2)/500

At the end of Figure A15 the pavement structure data file for this example is presented. Notice that in this case the pavement section is composed of seven different layers with modulus of elasticity and Poisson's ratio values assigned individually. Also, notice that the rigid boundary is set at 240 inches deep and has a preassigned modulus value of 10,000 psi.



NULLI-LAVER SYGTER - CONSTRUCT PR BAZ - SHERE STEATH CETTERIA	ESS	URE	
Afraeft		14.347 自由于2	
Indian Least (Bat)		2282942,56	
10(513)(11)			
Guigeade Cill Chi: 12040-041		15.00	
Revenerat PDN		325.11	
ellas, Standard Hussi Losi (He) SIEAR CEIRER		130718.97	
BARLI CHERT PLANNER		10.63	
Courses have the		18989.86	
Hine, Stanked Loat		STATE: 80	
		33.02	

Figure Al4. Partial view of the results obtained for example problem 2

NULTI-LAYER SYSTEM - CONSTANT PR MAX. SHEAR STRAIN CRITERIA	ess	URE
Aircraft	-	B-747 Gear 2
Initial Load (1bs)	-	200000.00
Depth(in)		30.00
Subgrade CBR	-	15.00
CBR EQUATION		
Pavement PCN	=	126.11
Allow. Standard Wheel Load (1bs)	=	
STRAIN CRITERIA		
Radii Cutoff Distance	-	10.00
Coverage Level	-	10000.00
Allow. Standard Load	=	99682.46
Aircraft ACN	-	90.62
Allowable Aircraft Load (lbs)	-	333566.71
Calculated Strain	· 📻	.1755E-02
Allowable Strain	-	.1756E-02
COORDINATES OF MAX. STRAIN OR		
X-Coordinate (inches)		22.0000
	_	
Y-Coordinate (inches)	-	31.9000

LOAD Data File Job Title STANDARD SINGLE WHEEL No. of Aircraft 2 Aircraft Identification # 1 STANDARD-SW Gross Load 40000.00 Fraction of Gross Load on Gear to be analyzed 1.0000 No. of Tires Tire Radius Cont.Area Cont.Press. Tire Load X-coord. Y-coord. No. (in) (sq.in) (pounds) (psi) (in) (in) 8.383 1 220.766 181.1875 40000.00 .00 .00 Search grid X-Origin Y-Origin No.X-Incr DX-size No.Y-Incr DY-size 0.Ŏ 0.ŏ 30 1.00 1 1.00 Aircraft Identification # 2 -747 Gear 200K Gross Load 200000.00 Fraction of Gross Load on Gear to be analyzed 1.000 No. of Tires 4 Tire Radius Cont.Area Cont.Press. Tire Load X-coord. Y-coord. No. (in) (sg.in) (psi) (pounds) (in) (in) ---1 9.22 266.99 187.27 50000.00 -22.00 -29.00 2 9.22 266.99 187.27 50000.00 22.00 -29.00 187.27 3 9.22 266.99 50000.00 -22.00 29.00 9.22 266.99 4 187.27 50000.00 22.00 29.00 Search grid X-Origin Y-Origin No.X-Incr DX-size No.Y-Incr DY-size 21 .00 .00 2.00 21 2.90 Figure A15. Printout containing the results of the example

problem 2 (Continued)

STRUCTURE Data File Job Title STANDARD SECTION Number of Pavements 1 Number Thicknesses & Moduli Variations 1 1 **Pavement Description** Flexible Pavement Slab Flexural Strength (only for rigid pavements) 0.00 No. of Layers 7 Layer Number Modulus of Thicknesses Poissons Interface ( in ) Elasticity Ratio Condition Layer Code ( psi ) 1 4.50 250000.00 .50 .00 2 6.00 64048.04 .30 .00 3 6.50 37361.73 .30 .00 4 6.50 34554.78 .30 .00 5 6.50 29644.20 .30 .00 6 210.00 22500.00 .40

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

.00

.50

7 100000.00 No. of Depths 1 Depth No. Depth (in) 1

30.00

Figure A15. (Concluded)

REPORT	DOCUMENTATION P	PAGE	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188	
Public reporting burden for this collection or gethering and meintaining the data needed, collection of information, including suggesti Devis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22	f information is estimated to average 1 hour pi and completing and reviewing the collection or one for reducing this burden. to Washington H 202-4302, and to the Office of Management an	rr response, including the time for re 1 information. Send comments rega endquarters Services, Directorate fo id Budget, Paperwork, Reduction Pro	viewing instructions, searching existing data sources, rding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson ect (0704-0108), Washington, DC 20503.	
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave b	lenk) 2. REPORT DATE April 1994	3. REPORT TYPE AN		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE		Final_report	5. FUNDING NUMBERS	
Super-Heavy Aircraf	t Study			
6. AUTHOR(S) Walter R. Barker and	d Carlos R. Gonzalez			
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION	NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION	
U.S. Army Engineer	Waterways Experiment	Station	REPORT NUMBER	
3909 Halls Ferry Ro	ad	Deacion	Technical Report	
Vicksburg, MS 3918			GL-94-12	
- 1				
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING A	GENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(E	S)	10. SPONSORING / MONITORING	
U.S. Army Corps of			AGENCY REPORT NUMBER	
U.S. Department of ?				
Federal Aviation Ada Washington, DC 2059				
	<b></b>			
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				
Available from the 1 Springfield, VA 221	National Technical In 161	formation Service	e, 5285 Port Royal Road,	
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY			12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE	
Approval for public release; distribution is unlimited				
13. ABSTRACT (Meximum 200 woo The test data for and tabularized. Th	-	ble pavements we	re collected, sorted,	
elastic pavement mod	lels. To assist in th	ne analysis. two	computer programs were	
developed. The firs	st program used the Bo	oussinessg model	to compute equivalent	
single-wheel loads.	This program will co	mpute the equiva	lent single-wheel load	
considering any selected cutoff distance. The second program used layered elas- tic theory for the analysis of pavements structures. The program has the capa-				
bility of determining determining allowabl new layered elastic	ng maximum pavement ro le loads for selected aircraft classification	esponse for sever performance crit ion number. Seve	al response parameters, ceria, and computing a ral different perfor-	
mance criteria were		deflection criter	ia employing different	
			(Continued)	
14. SUBJECT TERMS			15. NUMBER OF PAGES	
See reverse.			71 16. PRICE CODE	
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE	19. SECURITY CLASSIFIC OF ABSTRACT	ATION 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT	
Unclassified	Unclassified			
ISN 7540-01-280-5500			Standard Form 298 (Rev. 2-89) Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18	

# 13. ABSTRACT (Continued).

pavement model. It was shown that deflection and strain criteria could be developed for the design of heavy multiwheel aircraft which would be independent of the number of tires in the aircraft gear. Performance criteria based on deflection, vertical strain, horizontal shear strain, maximum shear strain, and octahedral strain were incorporated into the layered elastic computer program to give predictions for pavement performance. Comparisons of the strain criteria were made with the current design criteria.

The indications are that the current U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) California Bearing Ratio (CBR) design procedure gives pavement thicknesses that are overly conservative for very low subgrade CBR values, but are inadequate for high subgrade CBR values. A new procedure is suggested for computing the aircraft classification number which would be based on an equivalent pavement response parameter.

14. SUBJECT TERMS (Continued)

Aircraft classification number Airport pavement design California bearing ratio Coverages Elastic layered theory Equivalent single-wheel load Full-scale test section Multiwheel aircraft Pavement analysis Pavement design Pavement performance criteria